FILED  
Court of Appeals  
Division II  
State of Washington  
6/3/2022 10:46 AM  
No. 100992-5

FILED  
SUPREME COURT  
STATE OF WASHINGTON  
6/3/2022  
BY ERIN L. LENNON  
CLERK

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

No. 55915-3-II

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS FOR THE  
STATE OF WASHINGTON, DIVISION II

---

Gene Gonzales and Susan Gonzales, Horwath Family  
Two, LLC, and the Washington Landlord Association,

Appellants

v.

Governor Jay Inslee and State of Washington,

Respondents.

---

**Appellants' Petition for Review**

---

STEPHENS & KLINGE LLP  
Richard M. Stephens, WSBA # 21776  
10900 NE 4<sup>th</sup> Street, Suite 2300  
Bellevue, WA 98004  
(425) 453-6206

## Introduction

The Covid-19 pandemic shocked the world like nothing before it in modern history. Yet, it is “under the pressing exigencies of crisis, that there is the greatest temptation to dispense with fundamental constitutional guarantees.”

*Kennedy v. Mendoza—Martinez*, 372 U.S. 144, 165 (1963).

In the pandemic’s wake, Governor Inslee issued a series of emergency proclamations numbered as Proclamation 20-19 through 20-19.6 (A-32-40), and 21-09 (the “Proclamations”), each of which prohibit housing providers from exercising their statutory and contractual remedies to evict tenants (or even squatters) who have no right to remain in the owners’ property. The Proclamations took away all recourse against the few “bad actor” tenants who refuse to pay rent solely because they know they cannot be evicted or be charged late fees for nonpayment



or ever have their unpaid rent be treated as an enforceable debt.

Appellants (“Housing Providers”) are sympathetic to tenants who have suffered from the pandemic and are willing to work in good faith with those tenants who do not have the financial means to pay all their rent. However, the Proclamations actively undermined such cooperation and allowed tenants with the ability to pay their rent to ignore and ultimately escape their obligations indefinitely, regardless of whether they have been financially harmed by the pandemic.

While many businesses have suffered as a result of the pandemic, landlords are the only ones required by any of the proclamations to provide a good or service for free. Retail store and restaurant owners lost business, but they were not required to continue to provide clothing, goods or food to customers for free. Hotels suffered losses, but they were not required to allow guests to stay for free.

In contrast, the Proclamations' prohibition on evictions required Housing Providers to provide free rental housing without an ability to insist that tenants honor their most basic statutory obligations to pay rent or comply with rules that protect property and the safety and comfort of other tenants or the community.

The Supreme Court has warned about the potential problems with the use of governmental power during an emergency:

Emergency does not create power.

...

What power was thus granted and what limitations were thus imposed are questions which have always been, and always will be, the subject of close examination under our constitutional system.

*Home Bldg. & Loan Ass'n v. Blaisdell*, 290 U.S. 398, 425-26 (1934).

Here, close examination of the Governor's exercise of power in response to the pandemic reveals the violation of

Housing Providers' constitutional rights by forcing them alone to bear the burden of meeting a public need that should be borne by the public as a whole.

### **Identity of Petitioners**

Petitioners are Plaintiffs and Appellants below, Gene and Susan Gonzales, Horwath Family Two, LLC and the Washington Landlord Association.

### **Citation to Court of Appeals Decision**

Housing Providers seek review of a decision of Division Two filed on February 23, 2022 (Appendix A-1), and of an order denying a motion for reconsideration filed on March 22, 2022 (A-30). Because the Court of Appeals failed to give notice to Petitioners of the order on the reconsideration motion, the Court of Appeals recalled the mandate and set a due date for a Petition for Review of June 3, 2022. A-31.

### **Issues Presented for Review**

1. Whether a prohibition on seeking resolution of disputes interferes with the constitutional right to

access justice and the judiciary's power to administer justice?

2. Whether the Proclamations regarding landlord-tenant relations were authorized by RCW 43.06.220(1)(h) in light of the statute as a whole?
3. If the Legislature authorized the Proclamations, was such authorization a lawful delegation of pure legislative power to suspend statutes?
4. Whether the requirement that Housing Providers continue to provide housing to tenants who do not pay rent or who violate other conditions of the tenancy causes a taking of property that requires payment of just compensation under Article I, Section 16 of the constitution?
5. Whether the prohibitions on evicting rule-breaking tenants coupled with the restriction on treating unpaid rent as a collectible debt together unconstitutionally impairs contracts?
6. Whether the public officer statute trumps all other venue statutes?

## **Statement of the Case**

### **A. The pandemic and the proclamations.**

On March 18, 2020, Governor Inslee issued Proclamation 20-19, which suspended express provisions of state law that would allow residential rental housing

providers to evict tenants for non-payment of rent and other violations of statutory and contractual provisions governing the landlord-tenant relationship. This Proclamation lasted to a particular date, only to be extended by subsequent Proclamations. *See, e.g., A-32.*

These Proclamations in the 20-19 series, each with minor variations and limited exceptions, prohibit Housing Providers from accessing the courts to seek any judicial determination of their rights regardless of whether a tenant can pay rent or has suffered any pandemic-related hardship. Housing Providers have been prohibited from seeking evictions and treating unpaid rent as enforceable debt.

Under the Proclamations, tenants may continue to occupy their respective premises indefinitely at no charge, utilizing the water, power, trash, sewage, and other services that Housing Providers must continue to provide. By stripping all remedies away from Housing Providers—without even minimally requiring tenants *to communicate*

with their Housing Providers—the Proclamations created a legal disincentive for tenants who can pay rent because there is no recourse for going silent and refusing to do so.

While the state and federal governments have purported to make funds theoretically available to help with unpaid rent, it is only available at the *tenant's* request. CP 253, 248. Because paying was not a top priority for the “bad actor” tenants, Housing Providers did not receive rent or rental assistance. *Id.*

Further, the Proclamations directly prohibit access to the courts to resolve landlord/tenant disputes and prohibit law enforcement from serving or carrying out anything eviction-related unless a narrow exception applies. *See A-36-37.*

### **B. The Housing Providers’ circumstances.**

The Gonzales family, Horwath Family Two, a family-owned LLC, and the Washington Landlord Association all own (or, in regard to the Association, represent people who own) rental housing in Lewis County. Their tenants

have not paid rent for many months and refuse to communicate, frustrating the ability to offer a reasonable repayment plan tailored to the tenants' individual financial and health circumstances—key to ever being allowed to treat unpaid rent as an enforceable debt.

The Gonzales tenant, identified as Tenant X to protect privacy, who had not paid the \$1,000 per month rent since June, 2020. CP 251. Because Tenant X receives income from government disability payments, Tenant X likely has not suffered any reduction in income due to Covid-19. *Id.* Tenant X didn't reimburse the Gonzales for utilities as required by the lease.

Tenant X is also hard on the property—having broken cupboards, cracked a ceramic top stove, removed smoke alarms (contrary to RCW 59.18.130(7)) and pulled out a ceiling light. *Id.* Neighbors to the property occupied by Tenant X have complained about Tenant X's yelling and setting off fireworks between 1:00 and 2:00 in the morning. *Id.*

They have a mortgage on the property and pay property taxes and insurance. Unlike Tenant X, they have had Covid-19-related loss of income. Susan Gonzales taught for the Centralia School District and was laid off because of Covid-19. *Id.* They struggled to pay the mortgage, taxes, insurance and upkeep and repairs for property occupied by Tenant X who has no loss in income. *Id.* Neither have they received compensation from the State for the deprivation of their right to evict or the deprivation of their contractual right to receive rent. CP 253.

Similarly, Horwath Family Two, LLC (the Horwath Family) owns a single-family home leased to Tenant Y, who has not made a rental payment since March of 2020. CP 246. The rental properties constitute the Horwath's retirement income. CP 245. Under the lease agreement, Tenant Y is obligated to pay rent in the amount of \$1,175 per month, and the unpaid rent totaled \$12,915 as of January 2021. CP 246. Tenant Y is also obligated under



the lease agreement to pay for utilities, but like Tenant X, Tenant Y has not paid for utilities for many months. *Id.*

The Horwath Family made many attempts to find an equitable solution for tenants impacted by the pandemic. . . . Inquiries were made about the tenant's ability to pay any part of the rent owed—numerous emails, texts, voice mail messages and postings on the door of the rental unit. *Id.* Despite all these efforts, Tenant Y never responded. *Id.*

The lack of response made it impossible to know any of Tenant Y's financial or health circumstances. As a result of Tenant Y's silence, the Horwath Family had not been able to offer a repayment plan that would be reasonable based on the tenant's financial, health, and other circumstances as the Proclamations require. The Horwath Family can't conduct surveillance on Tenant Y to determine Tenant Y's financial, health or other circumstances. The only lawful way to learn of Tenant Y's circumstances would be to file suit, but that was prohibited by the Proclamations. See A-36-37.

Like the Gonzales family, the Horwath Family has received no compensation from the State for the deprivation of the contractual and statutory right to evict Tenant Y or the deprivation of the right to receive rent. CP 248.

**C. Procedural history.**

Housing Providers filed this action against Governor Inslee and the State (hereinafter “State”) in Lewis County Superior Court. CP 194, *et seq.* In response, the State filed a motion to change venue to Thurston County which the Court granted. CP 2-3, 178.

Thereafter, the Thurston County Superior Court considered cross-motions for summary judgment. The Court granted the State’s motion and denied Housing Providers’ motion. CP 1370. Housing Providers filed an appeal and Division Two affirmed.

## **Statement of Grounds, Supporting Argument and Reference to the Record**

### **I**

**The Governor's prohibition on seeking relief in courts interferes with the independent power of the judiciary and the constitutional right of access to the courts because only the courts should decide how to administer justice during a pandemic.**

The Proclamations deny access to the judiciary for the resolution of disputes and infringe on the courts' inherent powers by shutting the courthouse doors and not allowing the courts to deal with the pandemic. Division Two recognizes the right to access the courts constitutes a "bedrock foundation," shaken when there is delay or blockage of the ability to file suit. A-17 (quoting *John Doe v. Puget Sound Blood Ctr.*, 117 Wn.2d 772, 780 (1991)).

However, Division Two then treats the ability to have courts resolve disputes as something flimsier than "bedrock." It concludes that access can be regulated, or even banned (by an entity other than the courts

themselves), if the regulation “rationally serves a legitimate end.” A-18 (quoting *In re Marriage of Giordano*, 57 Wn.App. 74, 77 (1990)).

Division Two misappropriates the rational basis test as if no specific right, like the access to courts, were involved. The rational basis test applies to review of *any* government action when there is no other constitutional right involved. See, e.g., *Amunrud v. Board of Appeals*, 124 Wn.App. 884, 888 (2004) (revocation of a driver’s license); *American Network, Inc. v. Wash. Util. and Transp. Com’n*, 113 Wn.2d 59 (1989) (“purely economic regulation”); *Weikal v. Wash. Dep’t of Fisheries*, 37 Wn.App. 322 (1984) (fishing licenses).

By applying the rational basis test here, Division Two suggests that the access to the courts is no more important than the right to make choices about driving, charging utility rates or fishing. The role of the courts as established in the constitution as the civilized method for

resolving disputes is far more important—the pursuit of justice and equity.

Division Two improperly relies on Division One’s decision in *Giordano*, 57 Wn.App. 74. The key point is that *Giordano* is a completely different type of case. There was no outside body telling the court that it could not continue its historical functions. The party in *Giordano* argued that a court-imposed restriction on filing unlimited motions on whatever and whenever they wanted constituted a deprivation of access to the court. *Id.* at 78. The argument failed because there was access to the court—the dispute was being handled by the judiciary. The right to be in court did not entitle a litigant to be free from court-imposed restrictions, which naturally were subject to a rational basis test.

But here, Housing Providers were not allowed to file anything in court to present their legal issues with tenants—not because the court decided to handle matters

differently in the pandemic—but because the Governor did. It is the courts’ role to determine when cases may be filed, when matters will be heard, what changes to normal routines should be made during extenuating circumstances like a pandemic. A court could have stayed proceedings, or stayed enforcement, if a party was particularly impacted by the pandemic. But the Proclamations’ one-size-fits-all approach prohibited the judiciary from exercising any discretion whatsoever.

Division Two’s conclusion that the proclamations “did not completely restrict access to the courts,” ignores that Housing Providers were prohibited from taking their disputes to the judiciary. A-18. That others could have sought eviction under other circumstances is no answer to the issue.

Finally, Division Two asserts that the ability to bring eviction proceedings was only delayed, as if shutting the courthouse doors for a year and a half is inconsequential.

The delay is significant and only courts should decide when their doors are shut, to whom and under what circumstances. The judiciary is the entity to administer justice so that all are treated fairly. The courts, not the Governor, are best equipped to make those decisions and the judiciary is the entity the constitution entrusts that responsibility. This Court should grant review to safeguard its own independence and central role in providing access to justice.

## II

### **Requiring property owners to house people whose right to occupy has ended constitutes a temporary taking of property.**

The Proclamations' mandate that Housing Providers allow others to remain in physical occupation of property constitutes a classic taking of property, requiring payment of just compensation. Washington follows federal law on the state takings clause. *See Yim v. Seattle*, 194 Wn.2d 651 (2019). Federal law is clear that mandated physical

occupations of property constitute *per se* takings. *Cedar Point Nursery v. Hassid*, 141 S.Ct. 2063 (2021). Laws preventing landlords “from evicting tenants who breach their leases intrudes on one of the most fundamental elements of property ownership—the right to exclude.” *Alabama Ass’n of Realtors v. Dep’t of Health & Hum. Servs.*, 141 S.Ct. 2485, 2489 (2021) (per curiam).

Division Two relies heavily on *Yee v. City of Escondido*, 503 U.S. 519 (1992), but misses the key difference—*Yee* did not involve a prohibition on eviction. Division II concludes that Housing Providers’ argument is

inconsistent with the United States Supreme Court’s analysis in *Yee*. In that case, mobile park owners who rented pads to the owners of mobile homes challenged a state statute that among other things

(1) limited their ability to terminate a mobile homeowner’s tenancy, (2) did not allow them to remove a mobile home if it was sold, and (3) required them to continue renting to a mobile home purchaser as long as the purchaser had the ability to pay rent.



A-21 (citing *Yee*, 503 U.S. at 524) (emphasis and spacing added)).

The error of Division Two's conclusion is evident from the *Yee* decision itself. The owners of mobile home sites in *Yee* mounted a facial challenge to the city ordinance, not to a state statute; they argued the ordinance should be "viewed against the backdrop" of state law. *Id.* at 523. However, the *Yee* landlords did not sue the state, nor challenge the state law. The Court's focus was on the city ordinance, which did not govern eviction. *Id.* at 528. "[W]e do not find that right [to exclude] to have been taken from petitioners on the *mere face of the Escondido ordinance.*") *Id.* (emphasis added).

Division Two capitalizes on an prior sentence in *Yee* that "Petitioners voluntarily rented their land to mobile homeowners." A-22 (citing *Yee*, 503 U.S. at 527). But

Division Two completely ignores the very next sentence in

*Yee* addressing the ordinance and state law:

At least on the face of the regulatory scheme, neither the city nor the State compels petitioners, once they have rented their property to tenants, to continue to do so.

*Id.* (noting the owners' right to evict); *see also id.* at 524 (termination for "nonpayment of rent").

Unlike a restriction on rents, the Proclamations directly cause an unwanted physical occupation. Housing Providers were not allowed to evict tenants when there was nonpayment of rent. Nonetheless, Division Two ignores that the Court in *Yee* concluded there was no physical taking—no mandatory occupation by others—as a result of a city ordinance that limited rent increases. *Yee* does not stand for the proposition that requiring an owner to allow tenants to physically occupy property, even though permission has expired, does not constitute a physical occupation of the property.

The conclusion that landlords once invited tenants (for a limited time period) does not logically demand that there is no unwanted physical occupation when landlords must extend the invited occupation far beyond the agreed upon time. It is ludicrous to suggest that inviting someone into one's home when the visitor's intention is to take up residence permanently somehow cannot be considered a physical occupation of one's property. Yet, that is what Division Two establishes—a “once invited, you can stay forever” exception to the rule that physical occupations are *per se* takings requiring just compensation. *Yee* does not compel that result.

Importantly, to conclude there is a physical taking does not prohibit any Proclamation or make it impossible to ensure that tenants may remain in their tenancies until the pandemic is over. The takings clause simply means, if the eviction moratoria caused a taking of an interest in property, it means the State must pay for it. *See Knick v.*

*Township of Scott, Pennsylvania*, \_\_\_ U.S. \_\_\_, 139 S.Ct. 2162, 2170 (2019).

Given the significant amount of money appropriated for relief caused by the eviction moratoria, Brief of Respondents at 13-15 (billions of dollars), a ruling that Housing Providers should be paid with public dollars for what they lost to accommodate a public need simply ensures that the funds go to the persons whose property interests were in fact taken.

Housing Providers contend this principle should apply to whomever is required to give up their property for the public good. If grocery stores were required to provide food at no cost to customers during the pandemic, they should be reimbursed with public funds. But groceries stores were not so burdened; no business except landlords were required by the Proclamations to continue to provide without payment what they sell to their customers.

Forcing one group of people to bear the cost of addressing a public need simply because it is convenient is what the constitution's takings clause was designed to avoid.

The talisman of a taking is government action which *forces some private persons alone to shoulder affirmative public burdens, "which, in all fairness and justice, should be borne by the public as a whole."*

*Mission Springs, Inc. v. City of Spokane*, 134 Wn.2d 947, 964 (1998) (emphasis added) (quoting *Armstrong v. United States*, 364 U.S. 40, 49 (1960)). This Court should grant review to address this foundational principle.

### III

#### **The Governor's authority under RCW 43.06.220(1)(h) does not extend to suspending statutory rights or obligations.**

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