FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
7/5/2022 3:15 PM
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

No. 100992-5

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

GENE GONZALES; SUSAN GONZALES; HORWATH FAMILY, TWO, LLC; and WASHINGTON LANDLORD ASSOCIATION,

Petitioners,

v.

GOVERNOR JAY INSLEE and STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondents.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

ROBERT W. FERGUSON Attorney General

CRISTINA SEPE, WSBA #53609 BRIAN ROWE, WSBA #56817 Assistant Attorneys General JEFFREY T. EVEN, WSBA #20367 Deputy Solicitor General Attorneys for Respondents OID No. 91157 800 Fifth Ave., Ste. 2000 P.O. Box TB-14 Seattle, WA 98104 (206) 464-7744

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

IV. REASONS WHY THE COURT SHOULD DENY REVIEW

Petitioners do not explain the grounds under RAP 13.4(b) to justify seeking review. None exists, and the Court should deny review.

- A. The Decision Below Does Not Conflict with Decisions of the Supreme Court or Published Decisions of the Court of Appeals
 - 1. The Moratorium did not interfere with the judiciary's power and the right to petition

Petitioners' claim that the Proclamation denied access to the courts finds no support in established law and does not merit review. The Moratorium wasn't about access to the courts; it was about temporarily limiting actions that would have interfered with efforts to combat COVID-19.

As this Court has recently explained, the Moratorium did not limit the judicial authority of courts to entertain eviction actions, but prohibited landlords from engaging in the act of initiating them. Matter of Recall of Inslee, Wn.2d , 508 P.3d 635, 641 (Wash. 2022) ("Courts generally exercise their power only when a legal action is before them. Proclamation 20-19 does not limit what courts may do when an unlawful detainer action is filed but, rather, temporarily limits the filing of particular unlawful detainer actions in the first instance."). The Moratorium defined neither a judicial procedure nor a substantive cause of action. Rather, it did exactly what RCW 43.06.220(1)(h) authorizes the Governor to do in an emergency: prohibit conduct that would otherwise constrain efforts to combat a global pandemic. The Moratorium did not address, let alone constrain, judicial procedures protected by the any concept of judicial autonomy.

Petitioners only attempt to distinguish controlling cases, but the decision below is consistent with this Court's precedent—not in conflict.

2. The Governor validly exercised his emergency powers in issuing the Moratorium

The Moratorium was a paradigmatic exercise of the Governor's subsection (1) prohibitory authority and entirely within his emergency powers. The Moratorium concerned acts of private parties that the Governor deemed necessary to temporarily prohibit to "help preserve and maintain life, health, property or the public peace." RCW 43.06.220(1)(h). "Governor Inslee issued Proclamation 20-19 [the Moratorium] pursuant to that discretionary authority." *Recall of Inslee*, 508 P.3d at 640; *see* Procl. 20-19.6 at 5 (citing RCW 43.06.220(1)(h)).

Petitioners argue that the Moratorium suspended statutory rights and obligations and that the power to prohibit "activities" in RCW 43.06.220(1)(h) cannot include the power to suspend statutory rights and obligations. Pet. at 23-26. But these arguments are flawed on multiple levels and were rightly rejected by the court below.

First, while the Moratorium temporarily prohibited certain conduct (eviction and treating unpaid rent as enforceable debt),

it did not waive or suspend any statutory "obligations or limitations." RCW 43.06.220(2). The provision of the Residential Landlord Tenant Act (RTLA) allowing landlords to bring unlawful detainer actions, RCW 59.18.160(1), imposes no obligations or limitations. Landlords may choose to bring an unlawful detainer action based on nonpayment, but no statute obligates them to do so. And the RTLA provision making tenants liable for nonpayment of rent, RCW 59.12.030(3), was not waived or suspended by the Moratorium. As the Court of Appeals explained, "[t]enants still were subject to the statutory obligation to pay rent." Op. at 15.

Second, subsection (2) does not apply to emergency suspension or waiver of any statutory obligations, but only those that fall into either the six enumerated areas or the residual clause. The Moratorium did not fall into any of those. Petitioners' contention that subsections (2) and (4) are rendered "superfluous," Pet. at 26, implies they believe subsection

RCW 43.06.220(2) provides a general authority to waive or suspend statutory obligations regardless of content. But subsection (2) deals explicitly with the "waiver or suspension of statutory obligations or limitations" in specified areas. None of those areas applies here.

Third, even if the Governor somehow could have issued some version of the Moratorium under subsection (2), that would in no way foreclose him from electing instead to issue it under his broader prohibitory powers under subsection (1). Petitioners appear to view the Governor's subsection (2) suspension/waiver powers as somehow limiting his subsection (1) prohibitory powers. Pet. at 24-26. But that crabbed reading overlooks the Legislature's intent to vest the Governor with "broad" emergency powers. Laws of 2019, ch. 472, § 1. It also ignores statutory text and structure, which indicate that the two sets of emergency powers are complementary. They are listed separately in different subsections without any disjunctive,

confirming that they are independent options—not mutually exclusive ones.

For example, subsection (1) expressly authorizes the Governor to prohibit the "sale, purchase or dispensing of alcoholic beverages" while subsection (2) simultaneously empowers him to waive or suspend statutory obligations or limitations concerning "[p]ermits for industrial, business, or medical uses of alcohol." RCW 43.06.220(1)(e), (2)(f). These parallel provisions would make no sense if the Legislature had intended the subsection (2) powers to cabin the Governor's subsection (1) powers. This statutory construction would eviscerate the Governor's express subsection (1) powers, doing violence to the statute's plain meaning and undermining its larger purpose. Even if the Governor could have suspended certain RLTA provisions under his subsection (2) powers, nothing in RCW 43.06.220 prevented him from instead exercising his subsection (1) powers to protect public health and welfare by prohibiting evictions.

RCW 43.06.220(1)(h) plainly authorized the Governor to issue the Proclamations providing for the Moratorium.

3. The emergency powers statute is a valid legislative delegation

Petitioners contend that RCW 43.06.220(1)(h) violates the constitutional prohibition of delegation of legislative authority. Pet. at 27. But, as the Court of Appeals explained, the Proclamation did not suspend any statutory "obligations" or "limitations," and the Governor prohibited certain activities expressly authorized by RCW 43.06.220(1)(h). Op. at 16.

Precedent also forecloses Petitioners' argument. In Cougar Business Owners Association v. State, this Court held that the emergency powers statutes—including RCW 43.06.220—"evidence a clear intent by the legislature to delegate requisite police power to the governor in times of emergency," and that "[t]he necessity for such delegation is readily apparent." 97 Wn.2d 466, 474, 647 P.2d 481 (1982), abrogated on other grounds by Yim v. City of Seattle, 194 Wn.2d 682, 451 P.3d 682 (2020) (emphasis added). Recognizing that

"in times of natural catastrophe or civil disorder, immediate and decisive action by some component of state government is essential," and that "the executive is inherently better able than the legislature to provide this immediate response," this Court observed that "state chief executives have frequently been given substantial discretionary authority in the form of emergency powers to deal with anticipated crises." Id. at 474-75 (cleaned up). Since *Cougar*, courts have upheld the Governor's exercise of these emergency powers during the COVID-19 crisis. See, e.g., Colvin v. Inslee, 195 Wn.2d 879, 896, 467 P.3d 953 (2020); Slidewaters LLC v. Dep't of Lab. & Indus., 4 F.4th 747, 756 (9th Cir. 2021) ("delegation of power by the legislature to the executive to act in a time of emergency . . . does not present separation of powers concerns[]") (citing Barry & Barry, Inc. v. Dep't of Motor Vehicles, 81 Wn.2d 155, 500 P.2d 540 (1972)). Once again, Petitioner fails to show any conflict with precedent that would justify the Court's review.

In any event, Petitioners' delegation argument fails under this Court's delegation standard because (1) "'the legislature has provided standards or guidelines which define in general terms what is to be done'" and has identified the official "'or administrative body . . . to accomplish it'"; and (2) "'procedural safeguards exist to control arbitrary administrative action and any administrative abuse of discretionary power.'" *Auto. United Trades Org. v. State*, 183 Wn.2d 842, 859-60, 357 P.3d 615 (2015) (quoting *Barry*, 81 Wn.2d at 159).

Under *Barry*'s first requirement, RCW 43.06.220 specifies the relevant governmental actor: the Governor. And it sets forth what is to be done—prohibit activities—based on "standards or guidelines" framed in "general terms." *Barry*, 81 Wn.2d at 159. This is a generous standard because "one of the legislative powers granted by [the state and federal constitutions] is the power to determine the amount of discretion an [executive actor] should exercise in carrying out the duties granted to it by the [L]egislature." *Id.* at 162.

Turning to the second Barry requirement, procedural safeguards exist to constrain the Governor's RCW 43.06.220 powers. First, a person prosecuted under RCW 43.06.220(5) for violating an emergency proclamation may challenge its validity, with all the "statutory and common-law procedural safeguards which are normally afforded a defendant in a criminal prosecution." State v. Crown Zellerbach Corp., 92 Wn.2d 894, 901, 602 P.2d 1172 (1979). Second, a party with standing may file a declaratory judgment action challenging a proclamation Petitioners did pre-enforcement—just as the here. RCW 7.24.010.

Petitioners' contention that the Governor's proclamations must be subject to rulemaking procedures, including notice and comment, is not supported by precedent. The Court "repeatedly ha[s] found adequate procedural safeguards" in the availability of "judicial review of an agency's decision[.]" *McDonald v. Hogness*, 92 Wn.2d 431, 446, 598 P.2d 707 (1979) (citing cases). Practically, imposing administrative rulemaking requirements

would be absurd in the context of emergency proclamations and would hinder the Governor from promptly acting where "immediate and decisive action by some component of state government is essential[.]" *Cougar*, 97 Wn.2d at 474.

The emergency powers statute does not violate the separation of powers doctrine. To the contrary, for a court to "dictate how the executive branch must exercise these discretionary powers" would "usurp the authority of the coordinate branches of government." *Colvin*, 195 Wn.2d at 898 (cleaned up). The Court of Appeals correctly decided the delegation claim.

4. The public officer venue statute mandated venue in Thurston County

Nor does this case merit review based on the argument that the court below erred in affirming the transfer of venue from Lewis County to Thurston County. The Court of Appeals followed this Court's resolution of the public officer venue question at issue here. *Johnson v. Inslee*, 198 Wn.2d 492, 496-97, 496 P.3d 1191 (2021).

Petitioners argue that venue should be permissible in Lewis County, as the county where the Petitioners' rental properties are located. Pet. at 33. They derive this argument from RCW 4.92.010(3), as "[t]he county in which the real property that is the subject of the action is situated." But the now-expired Moratorium is the subject of this action—not real property.

B. The Decision Below Followed Analogous U.S. Supreme Court Precedent

1. The Moratorium did not effect an unconstitutional taking

The decision below is consistent with state and federal law on physical takings—the only kind of taking argued by Petitioners. The Proclamation temporarily restricted Petitioners' use of their property, preventing them from evicting—in the midst of a deadly pandemic—the tenants whom they had voluntarily invited. This kind of regulation on voluntary relationships cannot constitute a physical taking.

The key here is that Petitioners voluntarily invited their tenants onto their property, subjecting the use of their property to

tenancy and regulation of its use. Petitioners did not suffer any trespass and were not forced to accept tenants, but they argue that their tenants' "nonpayment of rent" resulted in an "unwanted physical occupation." Pet. at 19. *Yee*, however, confirms the maxim earlier established by *Florida Power*: "it is the invitation, not the rent, that makes the difference," *Yee v. City of Escondido*, 503 U.S. 519, 532 (1992); *see FCC v. Fla. Power Corp.*, 480 U.S. 245 (1987).

Petitioners too narrowly paint *Yee* as a rent control case. *Yee* involved a combination of state and municipal law that restricted evictions as well. Namely, the state law "limit[ed] the bases upon which a park owner may terminate a mobile home owner's tenancy," which, together with the municipal ordinance, prevented park owners from evicting owners of mobile homes to secure higher-paying tenants. *Yee*, 503 U.S. at 524; *see Gallo*, 2022 WL 2208934, at *9 ("the plaintiffs in *Yee* also alleged they were unable to evict current tenants"). Here too, the Proclamation temporarily prevented Petitioners from replacing

their tenants to obtain more rent. In both situations, the government regulated the terms on which property owners could terminate the relationships they had voluntarily started with their tenants. That is not a physical taking.

True, the park owners in *Yee* could pursue eviction for nonpayment of rent. But as long as the park owners wished to rent out their property, they could not evict their rent-controlled tenants. And the fact that a park owner in *Yee* could evict a mobile home owner for other reasons—such as the "owner's desire to change the use of his land"—likens that case to this one, as Petitioners here were likewise free to evict their tenants for that reason. *Yee*, 503 U.S. at 524.

The Court of Appeals did not "miss[]" or "ignore[]" the fact that *Yee* involved rent control or that park owners had a limited right to evict. Pet. at 17-19. The Court of Appeals carefully and accurately recounted the facts at issue in *Yee*, recognizing that the municipal ordinance "dictated the rent the mobile park owners could charge" and that the state statute

required park owners "to continue renting to a mobile home purchaser as long as the purchaser had the ability to pay rent." Op. at 21. It was this combination that led the park owners to argue that "the right to physically occupy their property—at submarket rent—essentially had been transferred indefinitely to the mobile home owners and their successors." *Id.* The Court of Appeals correctly read *Yee*'s emphasis on the importance of the voluntary invitation that initiates the landlord-tenant relationship. *See* Op. at 22.

Yee remains good law for that essential point: landlords who voluntarily accept tenants cannot maintain takings claims based on a theory that the occupation of the tenants they invited amounts to a physical occupation. Numerous other courts have read Yee this way and have rejected similar takings claims. See supra note 1.

Petitioners overstate their arguments: the Moratorium—now ended—did not establish a "once invited, you can stay forever" rule. Pet. at 20. The Moratorium restricted eviction only

temporarily, and it provided escape valves, permitting eviction if landlords wished to sell or occupy their property or if tenants threatened the health or safety of others. Op. at 3-4. The notion that the Moratorium extended Petitioners' invitations "forever" is overt hyperbole, as the Moratorium expired at the end of June 2021. Op. at 1. It is doubtful Petitioners have suffered a taking in any sense, because under the Moratorium they were able to pursue unpaid rent (which continued to accrue) and evict tenants under certain circumstances.

The Takings Clause simply does not require the State to compensate property owners for every regulation on the use of their property. Such regulations are more commonly challenged as regulatory takings, a theory not pled here. *Yee* and *Florida Power* establish that Petitioners' physical taking theory is unviable because the physical occupation began with the Landlord's voluntary invitation, not with any action by the State. The Court of Appeals thus correctly held that the Proclamation effected no taking.

2. The Moratorium comported with the Contracts Clause

The appellate court held that the Moratorium did not unconstitutionally impair Petitioners' contractual relationships with their tenants. But Petitioners wrongly argue that this decision is "out of step with federal law" because the Moratorium should have required tenants to pay rental compensation during its interim.³ Pet. at 31.

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